






































































1 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE A MUNICIPAL ACCOUNTING SERVICES,
CYBERSECURITY AND TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE MEMORANDUM OF 

AGREEMENT

WITNESSETH: 
WHEREAS, the North Carolina State Budget Act of 2021 (SL 2021-180, as amended by 
SL 2021-189, and SL 2022-6) provided to the NC League of Municipalities (League)
grant funds provided to the State of North Carolina by the U.S. Treasury pursuant the 
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds of H.R. 1319, American Rescue Plan 
Act of 2021 (ARP); and  

WHEREAS, the League received two Award Agreements (OSBM-NCLM-65) from the 
Office of State Budget and Management (OSBM) and the North Carolina Pandemic 
Recovery Office (NCPRO); and

WHEREAS, the first Award Agreement is identified as OSBM-NCLM-65. This grant 
enables the League to provide “financial software and assistance programs for units of 
local government for expenses related to the COVID-19 pandemic..." This grant is 
referred to as the Municipal Accounting Services and Cybersecurity Grant; and

WHEREAS, the second Award Agreement is identified as OSBM-NCLM-66. This grant 
enables the League “to provide guidance and technical assistance to units of local 
government in the administration of funds from the Local Fiscal Recovery Fund, as 
established in Section 2.6 of S.L. 2021-25, and in the administration of projects funded 
through the State Fiscal Recovery Fund, as established in Section 2.2 of S.L. 2021-25." 
This grant is referred to as the Guidance and Technical Assistance Grant; and 

WHEREAS, the Municipal Accounting Services and Cybersecurity Grant and the 
Guidance and Technical Assistance Grant are collectively referred to herein as the 
“League Grants”.

WHEREAS, the League Grants are deemed part of US Treasury Expenditure Category: 
6, Revenue Replacement and shall only be spent on governmental services; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to US Treasury Guidance, units of local government that receive 
services that are funded by one or both of the League Grants are beneficiaries of one or 
both of the League Grants, respectively, and such services are provided at no cost to these 
local governments; and

WHEREAS, the League has established a Municipal Accounting Services, Cybersecurity 
and Technical Assistance Memorandum of Agreement pursuant to the terms of the 
League’s Municipal Accounting Systems and Cybersecurity Grant and the Guidance and 
Technical Assistance Grant; and

WHEREAS, this Municipal Accounting System, Cybersecurity and Technical 
Assistance Memorandum of Agreement will offer local municipalities:



2 

(1) Services rendered by the League (League Services) including but not limited
to capital expenditures for special purpose software and computer equipment as
set forth in §2 C.F.R. 200.439; and

(2) Services rendered by one or more service providers (Contractor Services),
retained by the League on behalf of the Municipality, who are members of a
particular profession or possess a special skill as set forth in §2 C.F.R. 200.459;
and

(3) Equipment, including information technology systems, and supplies, including
computing devises, as set forth in §2 C.F.R. 200.439 and §2 C.F.R. 200.453; and

WHEREAS, the Municipal Accounting Services, Cybersecurity and Technical 
Assistance Memorandum of Agreement, is attached hereto as Exhibit A; and

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY/TOWN
COUNCIL/BOARD OF THE TOWN OF LOWELL:

1. That, the Municipal Accounting Services, Cybersecurity and Technical Assistance
Memorandum of Agreement is hereby approved.

2. That the Manager/Clerk is authorized to execute the attached Memorandum of
Agreement (or one substantially equivalent thereto) and such other agreements
and actions as necessary in accordance with the League’s Municipal Accounting
Services and Cybersecurity Grant and the Guidance and Technical Assistance
Grant.

Adopted, this the ________ day of _____,

TOWN/CITY OF LOWELL

By: _____________________________________
(Name)
Mayor 

ATTEST:
_________________________________________
(Name)
Town Clerk 



3 

Exhibit A
MUNICIPAL ACCOUNTING SERVICES, CYBERSECURITY AND 

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT (MOA).



1



2



3

 



4



5



6



7



8



9



10

[Remainder of page left blank intentionally.  Signatures are on following page.]



11



12

 



13



14



License Agreement for Purchase and 
Support of Application Software

This AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between BLACK MOUNTAIN SOFTWARE LLC, 
located at 110 Main Street, Suite 3, Polson, Montana 59860 (hereinafter referred to as BMS), 
and the Town of Lowell, located at 101 W First Street, Lowell, North Carolina 28098 (hereinafter 
referred to as LICENSEE).

The LICENSED SOFTWARE, as such term is used in the Agreement, includes all software products that 
the LICENSEE has obtained from BMS through purchase, lease, subscription, or rental and includes 
software, associated files, and documentation that may be related thereto, as the same may, from time 
to time, be amended, updated, or customized. The software products, associated files, and 
documentation that together constitute a computerized system are hereinafter referred to as 
LICENSED SOFTWARE. Examples of LICENSED SOFTWARE include, but are not limited to, the 
following products: (a) BMS Cloud Hosting, software hosted on cloud servers which the LICENSEE 
is granted access to; and (b) BMS Summit products, web application software hosted online which 
the LICENSEE is granted access to.

BMS hereby grants LICENSEE a limited, nontransferable, non-exclusive LICENSE to an executable 
copy of the LICENSED SOFTWARE, solely for LICENSEE’s own internal business purposes and subject
to the terms set forth herein. All rights not expressly granted to LICENSEE are reserved by BMS and 
its licensors. LICENSEE’s ownership of and right to use the LICENSED SOFTWARE shall survive 
termination of this AGREEMENT. Notwithstanding, LICENSEE’s obligation to only utilize the LICENSE 
SOFTWARE for internal business purposes and not transfer to other entities, not named in this 
AGREEMENT, shall survive termination of this AGREEMENT.

SCOPE OF SERVICES & FEES

The Scope of Services to be provided by BMS are more specifically set forth in Exhibit 1 to this 
AGREEMENT.

The Initial Service Fee for each software product provided to LICENSEE is to be paid for by the NC 
League of Municipalities (hereinafter referred to as “NCLM”) pursuant to the Municipal Accounting 
Services Assistance Master Agreement. The Initial Service Fee Schedule is attached hereto as Exhibit
2. This Initial Service Fee shall cover a period of three (3) years (“Initial Performance Period”)
beginning upon the date on which the BMS commences implementation of the software for
LICENSEE. . Thereafter, LICENSEE shall have the option to continue this AGREEMENT as described
below.

During the Initial Performance Period, neither the LICENSEE nor BMS shall make any changes, directly 
or indirectly, to the Scope of Services, as stated in Exhibit 1 of the Agreement, or the Initial Service 
Fee paid by the League as indicated in Exhibit 2 of the Agreement, without the prior written approval 
of the NC League of Municipalities. All costs incurred for activities outside of Exhibit 1 and Exhibit 2 of 
the Agreement or without prior approval of the NC League of Municipalities shall be borne by the 
LICENSEE.

After the Initial Performance Period expires, LICENSEE shall be notified annually of rates for the Annual 
Service Fee for the upcoming year in sufficient time for budgeting, if requested. LICENSEE agrees to



payment of Service fees for as long as LICENSEE uses the LICENSED SOFTWARE.

1. WARRANTY AND LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY

All work performed under this AGREEMENT shall be performed in a workmanlike and professional 
manner, to the reasonable satisfaction of the LICENSEE, and shall conform to all prevailing industry 
and professional standards.

BMS does not warrant that the functions contained in the LICENSED SOFTWARE meet LICENSEE’S 
requirements. It is the responsibility of LICENSEE to determine that the functions provided by the 
software meet LICENSEE’S needs. In addition, LICENSEE assumes the entire risk of using the 
LICENSED SOFTWARE.

BMS agrees to use reasonable efforts to correct any material errors found in the LICENSED SOFTWARE, 
during the term of this and any subsequent AGREEMENTS regarding the LICENSED SOFTWARE, at no
additional cost to LICENSEE. An error, or "bug", is defined as a logical defect in the software that 
causes it to perform a specific function or calculation in an improper manner, or not as originally 
intended or designed.

LICENSEE agrees to report any suspected error to BMS and to provide a detailed description of the 
situation surrounding the detection of the suspected error. BMS shall analyze the situation and 
determine the cause of the problem. If it is a material error, BMS shall use reasonable efforts to correct it 
and provide a new copy of the corrected executable code for use by LICENSEE. If an error has 
caused the loss or inaccessibility of any significant data previously entered into the LICENSED 
SOFTWARE by LICENSEE, BMS shall provide all reasonable assistance necessary to retrieve or reenter 
such data. BMS shall advise LICENSEE if there are charges associated with the data recovery effort.

IN NO EVENT SHALL BMS HAVE ANY LIABILITY TO LICENSEE OR ANY THIRD PARTY FOR DAMAGES 
RESULTING FROM LICENSEE'S USE OR POSSESSION OF THE LICENSED SOFTWARE. 

IN NO EVENT SHALL BMS BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOSS OF PROFIT OR REVENUE BY LICENSEE OR ANY 
CONSEQUENTIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, PUNITIVE, OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES 
INCURRED OR SUFFERED BY LICENSEE, EVEN IF BMS HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF
SUCH LOSS OR DAMAGES. FURTHER, EXCEPT FOR CLAIMS BASED ON US PATENT OR US 
COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT OR FOR PERSONAL INJURY OR PHYSICAL LOSS OR DAMAGE TO REAL OR 
TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY CAUSED BY THE NEGLIGENCE OF BMS, LICENSEE AGREES THAT 
BMS’S TOTAL LIABILITY FOR ALL CLAIMS OF ANY KIND ARISING AS A RESULT OF, OR RELATED 
TO, THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO 
STRICT LIABILITY AND NEGLIGENCE), WARRANTY, OR ON OTHER LEGAL OR EQUITABLE 
GROUNDS, SHALL BE LIMITED TO GENERAL MONEY DAMAGES AND SHALL NOT EXCEED THE 
AMOUNTS ACTUALLY RECEIVED BY BMS FROM LICENSEE FOR SUCH SPECIFIC LICENSE FOR THE 
PARTICULAR PRODUCT(S) AND SERVICE PERIOD(S) TO WHICH THIS CLAIMS PERTAIN.

LICENSEE’S REMEDIES PROVIDED HEREIN ARE EXCLUSIVE AND IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER REMEDIES, 
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN, WITH RESPECT TO THE LICENSED 
SOFTWARE AND ANY OTHER GOODS AND SERVICES COVERED BY OR FURNISHED PURSUANT TO 
THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES (i) OF 
MERCHANTABILITY, (ii) OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR (iii) ARISING FROM 
COURSE OF PERFORMANCE OR DEALING, OR FROM USAGE OF TRADE.



2. OWNERSHIP OF SOURCE CODE

BMS owns the copyrights and all associated intellectual property rights to the licensed software which is 
considered confidential and a trade secret The original source code for each software product, 
including any alterations or customization requested and paid for by the LICENSEE, is the sole 
property of BMS. The original source code is not provided as part of this AGREEMENT. LICENSEE is only 
granted permission to utilize a copy of the executable code for each software product, subject to the 
terms and restrictions set forth in this AGREEMENT. However, if BMS should discontinue its 
operations so as to no longer be in a position to service, update, or otherwise care for its software 
products under this AGREEMENT, BMS shall take all reasonable steps to provide LICENSEE with a single 
copy of the then-current version of the source code of each software product LICENSEE utilized, at 
no additional charge. The source code supplied to LICENSEE under this provision shall be subject 
to each and every restriction on use and disclosure set forth in this AGREEMENT, and LICENSEE 
acknowledges that the source code and its associated documentation are extraordinarily valuable 
proprietary property of BMS that shall be guarded against unauthorized use or disclosure with great 
care.

3. NONDISCLOSURE

All rights of any kind associated with LICENSED SOFTWARE that are not expressly granted in this 
AGREEMENT are entirely and exclusively reserved to and by BMS. LICENSEE shall not give, assign, 
sell, rent, lease, or otherwise transfer this LICENSE or the LICENSED SOFTWARE, or any access to 
the same, to any third party. LICENSEE may also not modify, translate, reverse engineer, decompile, 
disassemble, or create derivative works based on the LICENSED SOFTWARE.

The LICENSED SOFTWARE is protected by both United States copyright law and international treaty 
provisions. LICENSEE agrees not to disclose or otherwise make available the LICENSED SOFTWARE, 
or related documentation, in any form, to any person for any purpose other than as necessary to 
LICENSEE'S use of the software as authorized herein. LICENSEE is hereby granted permission only to 
make archival copies of approved LICENSED SOFTWARE for the sole purpose of back up to protect 
LICENSEE'S investment from loss. However, LICENSEE shall safeguard the original and all copies of 
the LICENSED SOFTWARE and documentation against unauthorized disclosure and take such steps as 
necessary to ensure that the provisions of this AGREEMENT are not violated by any employee of 
LICENSEE or any other individual with access to LICENSEE'S computer system. For only those users 
that have elected to have their software hosted through BMS on the “Cloud”, or other online hosting 
service, a backup of each application and the related application database shall routinely be performed 
each workday by a third-party provider.

4. ADDITIONAL SERVICES

See Scope of Services in Exhibit 1. 



5. PROTECTION OF DATA

5.1 Implementation on Client Hardware/Network

Intentionally omitted.

5.2 Implementation on Cloud and for Online Services

BMS shall make commercially reasonable efforts to safeguard LICENSEE’S data. LICENSEE 
UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT BMS IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY ERRORS OR OMISSIONS 
OF THE THIRD-PARTY PROVIDERS, AND THAT LICENSEE’S REMEDIES, IF ANY, RELATING TO LOSS 
OF DATA ASSOCIATED WITH ERRORS OR OMISSIONS OF THE THIRD-PARTY PROVIDERS ARE 
STRICTLY LIMITED TO CLAIMS LICENSEE MAY HAVE AGAINST THE THIRD-PARTY PROVIDERS.

In the event of loss of data, LICENSEE shall participate and assist with data recovery by all reasonable 
means, in conjunction with the efforts of the third-party provider of infrastructure as a service, as well 
as the third-party provider of backup services. IT IS UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED THAT BMS’S 
LIABILITY IN THE EVENT OF LOSS OF DATA IS STRICTLY LIMITED TO TAKING THE REMEDIAL 
MEASURES DESCRIBED HEREIN, AND IN NO EVENT SHALL BMS BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOSS OR 
DAMAGES OF ANY KIND RESULTING FROM THE LOSS OF LICENSEE’S DATA.

5.3 Data Breach: Licensee’s Obligation to Notify Individuals

In the event the parties hereto discover an unauthorized disclosure of LICENSEE’S data, the discovering 
party shall notify the other party within 24 hours of discovery of such a disclosure. LICENSEE hereby 
accepts all obligations under applicable law to notify each individual affected by the disclosure. 
LICENSEE agrees to pay all costs associated with the notification process and to diligently abide by all 
laws governing the unauthorized disclosure of personal information. BMS agrees to fully cooperate 
with the LICENSEE in their process. To the extent permitted by law, LICENSEE shall indemnify and hold 
harmless BMS against all costs of notification and remediation of an unauthorized disclosure of 
LICENSEE’S data, whether or not such breach is the direct result of an action or inaction of BMS. 
This indemnification shall extend to all claims for any losses, damages, liabilities, fines or expenses, 
including reasonable attorney’s fees, arising out of any failure by LICENSEE to comply with its 
obligations hereunder.



6. NONPAYMENT

The Initial Service Fee for each software product provided to LICENSEE under this Agreement is to 
be paid for by the NC League of Municipalities pursuant to the Municipal Accounting Services 
Assistance Master Agreement. LICENSEE agrees to make all required payments for: (a) Annual 
Service Fees; (b) additional services that are requested by the LINCENSEE under Section 4 above; and (c) any 
applicable Cloud Hosting or access fees, on or before the due date of such payment. If any such 
payment remains unpaid for a period of thirty (30) days, BMS shall have the right to terminate this 
AGREEMENT and all Service, support, Cloud Hosting, and/or access to the LICENSED SOFTWARE and other 
services.

7. COMPUTER SYSTEM

LICENSEE is responsible for and agrees to provide and maintain a computer system suitable to 
support the use and operation of BMS’S software products, as specified on BMS’S website in a 
document entitled Minimum Requirements. When applicable, LICENSEE is responsible for the stability 
of their internet access and understands that the quality of their internet connection can impact the 
services BMS provides. LICENSEE is responsible for and agrees to keep computer workstations, 
servers, operating systems, network switches and wiring, uninterruptible power supplies, etc. up 
to date and functioning properly. Information on the use of LICENSED SOFTWARE, including system 
performance metrics, is monitored and collected by BMS for the explicit purpose of improving the 
Software, End Users’ experience, Software performance, Software reliability and general 
troubleshooting practices. LICENSEE may request BMS’S advice regarding modification of server, 
workstation, and/or network environments to ensure proper functioning of BMS’S software. 
However, actual modifications are to be performed by LICENSEE’S in-house or contracted technical 
support personnel, unless BMS personnel are specifically directed to make changes in an 
emergency. In this case, authorization to proceed must be provided in writing to BMS. If LICENSEE 
fails to properly provide and maintain a suitable computer system, and this leads to data 
corruption, LICENSEE may incur charges from BMS to cover costs related to repairing or restoring 
damaged data. In such an event, BMS retains the right to notify LICENSEE of the fact and the 
amount of the charges within 30 days of discovery and reporting of the issue.

8. APPLICABLE LAW

This AGREEMENT is the complete statement of the AGREEMENT between the parties on the subject 
matter, and merges and supersedes all other or prior understandings, agreements, and arrangements. 
This AGREEMENT shall be governed by the laws of the State of North Carolina. Exclusive jurisdiction 
and venue for all matters relating to this AGREEMENT shall be in courts located in the State of North 
Carolina, and BMS and LICENSEE consent to such jurisdiction and venue. If any of the provisions of 
this AGREEMENT are invalid under any applicable statute or rule of law, they are, to that extent, 
modified to conform with such applicable statute or rule of law.

9. NORTH CAROLINA PUBLIC RECORDS LAW
Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, this Agreement and all materials 
submitted to the LICENSEE by the BMS are subject to the public records laws of the State of North 
Carolina and it is the responsibility of the BMS to properly designate materials that may be 
protected from disclosure as trade secrets under North Carolina law as such and in the form 
required by law prior to the submission of such materials to the LICENSEE. BMS understands and 
agrees that the LICENSEE may take any and all actions necessary to comply with federal, state, 
and local laws and/or judicial orders and such actions will not constitute a breach of the terms of 
this Agreement. To the extent that any other provisions of this Agreement conflict with this 
paragraph, the provisions of this section shall control.



10. E – VERIFY
BMS shall comply with E-Verify, the federal E-Verify program operated by the United States 
Department of Homeland Security and other federal agencies, or any successor or equivalent 
program used to verify the work authorization of newly hired employees pursuant to federal law 
and as in accordance with N.C.G.S. §64-25 et seq. In addition, to the best of BMS’s knowledge, 
any subcontractor employed by BMS as a part of this contract shall be in compliance with the 
requirements of E-Verify and N.C.G.S. §64-25 et seq.

11. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT
BMS certifies that, as of the date listed below, it is not on the Final Divestment List as created by 
the State Treasurer pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 147-86.55, et seq. In compliance with the requirements 
of the Iran Divestment Act and N.C.G.S. § 147-86.59, BMS shall not utilize in the performance of 
the contract any subcontractor that is identified on the Final Divestment List.

12. COMPANIES BOYCOTTING ISRAEL DIVESTMENT ACT
BMS certifies that it has not been designated by the North Carolina State Treasurer as a company 
engaged in the boycott of Israel pursuant to N.C.G.S. 147-86.81.

13. FORCE MAJEURE
BMS will not be responsible for any delay or failure to perform obligations specified in this 
AGREEMENT due to causes beyond BMS’s reasonable control.

14. TERM AND TERMINATION
The term of this AGREEMENT shall be for so long as there are then current orders made a part 
hereof unless earlier terminated as provided herein.

Either party may terminate this AGREEMENT by giving the other written notice effective no later 
than sixty (60) days prior to the next Annual Service fee date. Such written notice shall be 
addressed and delivered to the designated points of contact, respectively, for LICENSEE and BMS 
at the addresses provided above or as later provided.

BMS may suspend LICENSEE’s access to the LICENSED SOFTWARE and services during any period 
that LICENSEE is in material breach of this AGREEMENT or LICENSEE’s access to and use of the 
LICENSED SOFTWARE creates a material security vulnerability. Where practicable, BMS will give 
LICENSEE at least two (2) days’ advance notice of the suspension unless the suspension is made 
under emergency circumstances. BMS will reinstate LICENSEE’s access to the LICENSED 
SOFTWARE when the grounds for suspension are cured.

In the event this AGREEMENT is terminated, BMS will retain LICENSEE’s data for up to sixty (60) 
days from the effective date of termination. During that sixty (60) day period, upon LICENSEE’s 
request, BMS shall provide LICENSEE with a backup copy of their data for each licensed software 
product that can be reasonably transferred to a local hosting service. In this case, BMS may assist 
LICENSEE with installation and/or configuration of LICENSEE’S software and data on a local 
network, upon payment of related installation fees. BMS has no obligation to retain LICENSEE’s 
data after the sixty (60) day period and may destroy LICENSEE’s data any time thereafter



15. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

BMS shall be considered to be an Independent Contractor and as such shall be wholly responsible 
for the work to be performed and for the supervision of its employees. Nothing herein is intended 
or will be construed to establish any agency, partnership, or joint venture. BMS represents that 
it has, or will secure at its own expense, all personnel required in performing the services under 
this Contract. Such employees shall not be employees of or have any individual contractual 
relationship with the LICENSEE.

16. NO ASSIGNMENT

Neither party may assign this AGREEMENT without the express written consent of the other. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Party may assign this AGREEMENT and all of its rights and 
obligations hereunder to any AFFILIATE or to any THIRD PARTY in connection with the transfer 
or sale of all or substantially all of its business, or to which it may transfer all or substantially all 
of its assets to which this AGREEMENT relates, or in the event of its merger, consolidation, change 
in control or similar transaction, without obtaining the consent of the other Party, provided that 
the assigning party remains liable under this AGREEMENT and that the THIRD PARTY assignee or 
surviving entity assumes in writing all of its obligations under this AGREEMENT.

17. DUTY OF LICENSEE

The LICENSEE further agrees to: (1) give the League access to data managed by the Municipality 
in order to facilitate implementation of the Municipal Accounting Systems and Cybersecurity 
Grant; (2) provide on-line “read only” access into the Municipal Accounting System by the 
League’s Accounting Assistance personnel; (3) permit the League to contact Black Mountain 
Software on behalf of the LICENSEE as needed to facilitate implementation of the Municipal 
Accounting Systems and Cybersecurity Grant; (4) make reasonable efforts to maintain industry 
standards for cybersecurity; and (5) use the Standardized Chart of Accounts as provided in the 
Black Mountain Software installation.

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE REMAINS BLANK INTENTIONALLY. 

SIGNATURES ARE ON THE NEXT PAGE.





EXHIBIT 1 Scope Of Services

MEMBER SERVICES

The Initial Service Fee and Annual Service Fee, as shown in The Initial Service Fee Schedule cover 1.) 
the purchase of an executable copy of the LICENSED SOFTWARE; 2.) telephone and other means of 
support, including granting access to online services provided by BMS, and training to all of LICENSEE'S 
involved personnel in the use of the LICENSED SOFTWARE; 3.) initial transfer of data from the 
LICENSEE’s current system into the LICENSED SOFTWARE, 4.) error correction, including software 
updates current with all changes in applicable law and equivalent to the products sold to new clients, 
and related data files changes; and 5.) hosting LICENSED SOFTWARE, including backup through a
third-party provider.

1. Software Purchase. BMS grants LICENSEE a limited, nontransferable, non-exclusive LICENSE to an
executable copy of the LICENSED SOFTWARE. This includes the selected Base Package and Add-On
Applications from the corresponding Initial Service Fee Schedule.

All the software products are multi-user, with an unlimited number of LICENSE users (seats).

2. Support and Training. Unlimited phone, email, and internet support is included in the LICENSEE’s
services. Support is available during normal business hours, which are Monday through Friday, 7:00
a.m. to 5:30 p.m. (Mountain Time). Any unexpected down times will be communicated via email as
needed.

Training is included for the LICENSEE, with the services provided for each software application. Unless 
specifically arranged, initial training will be conducted online. After initial training, free online training 
is always available with advanced scheduling required. Hourly charges and travel costs apply at a pre- 
quoted rate for training physically provided onsite.

3. Data Transfer. At initial implementation, BMS will assist the LICENSEE in transferring (i.e. converting)
data from an existing system(s). BMS will provide the LICENSEE, via NCLM, all data requests and data
conversion templates needed for the conversion process. Any additional conversion data requested by
LICENSEE would be custom and additional costs would apply to convert such data. A quote would be
provided after discussion of the data to be included and review from BMS staff.

The following list includes, but is not limited to, the data BMS will convert for the Base Packages:

Fund Accounting – BMS approved universal chart of accounts as required for NCLM MAS participants,
vendors, conversion month, YTD balances for balance sheets, revenue and expenditure accounts,
outstanding checks, current year purchase orders.

Payroll – employee master file information (including demographic area, rates of pay, tax exemption 
settings, contact information), deductions, YTDs (to produce W2s), outstanding checks, leave balances.

Utility Billing – customer information (including account numbers, route/walk sequences,



independent billing, owner and resident names/addresses), balances, rate codes, security deposits, 
meter information (including readings), comments/notes.

Year-to-date (YTD) totals and/or ending balances are converted. Detailed transaction history is not 
converted.

4. Software Updates. Updates to the software will be applied as needed on a per-application basis. Critical
updates required for error correction will be applied as needed. All BMS applications and cloud
systems have updates automatically applied as they become available. Required system
maintenance shall be scheduled and performed in such a way as to minimize disruption to LICENSEE's
workflow.

5. Hosting. BMS shall arrange for the hosting of LICENSEE’S applications by a third-party provider of
infrastructure as a service, or through BMS’S online services.

Via Hosting, the software and data can be accessed 24/7 outside of the designated weekly maintenance
window, which is 11:00 p.m. Saturday to 1:00 a.m. on Sunday (Mountain Time). Unexpected down
times will be communicated via email as needed.

In addition, BMS shall arrange for LICENSEE’S data for each software product to be backed up each
workday using a third-party provider of backup services. Data storage and backup shall meet all
applicable industry and governmental standards for electronic storage, data security and backup.
LICENSEE has the option, but not obligation, to perform additional backups manually to local
workstations.

ANNUAL SERVICE FEES SPECIFICALLY DO NOT COVER (1) CUSTOM SOFTWARE ENHANCEMENTS,
(2) LOCAL CLIENT HARDWARE/NETWORK RELATED SUPPORT, (3) DATABASE REPAIR DUE TO NON- 
SOFTWARE RELATED PROBLEMS SUCH AS THOSE INVOLVING LOCAL CLIENT HARDWARE, THE LOCAL
CLIENT NETWORK, OR THE LOCAL CLIENT NETWORK ENVIRONMENT AND (4) FORMAT CHANGES TO
ANY FILE USED TO IMPORT DATA FROM OR EXPORT DATA TO A THIRD PARTY.

ADDITIONAL SERVICES
LICENSEE may request BMS to perform additional services. Additional services can include, but are not 
limited to, additional data preparation or conversion; supplemental training or preparation of 
supplemental training materials; changes to any import or export file; changes to any credit card 
processing interface; and systems analysis and custom programming. A cost estimate for any such 
services shall be provided by BMS in response to a request by LICENSEE. If travel is required, an 
estimate of these costs shall also be provided. Upon agreement in writing by both parties, the requested 
effort shall be performed. Such an effort shall be provided at BMS’S standard rate during the period of 
performance. Costs of additional services shall be billed once the services have been provided and shall 
be due and payable within one month of billing. Actual travel costs shall be billed. Travel costs may 
include mileage or airfare, a nominal travel time charge per person, per diem, rental car, and lodging. 
Mileage and per diem shall be based on the current Federal rates.

Any additional services, not covered in the Scope of Services and Annual Service Fees, are paid for by 
the LICENSEE, and not the funding responsibility of NCLM.



EXHIBIT 2 - Initial Service Fee Schedule



License Annual Fees Conversion  Annual Fee Prepayment

Purchase Fees Year 1 Fees Year 2 Year 3

Base Packages: Fund Accounting, Payroll, & Utility Billing

Fund Accounting $33,700 $6,600 $1,850 $6,800 $7,000 $55,950

Payroll $7,890 $2,250 $1,100 $2,320 $2,390 $15,950

Utility Billing $14,390 $4,200 $4,650 $4,320 $4,450 $32,010

Base Package Subtotals: $55,980 $13,050 $7,600 $13,440 $13,840

Add-On Applications:

UB|Intelligent Mail Barcode $370 $0 $0 $0 $0 $370

UB-Rate Analysis $1,855 $30 $0 $30 $30 $1,945

Credit Card Manager $1,875 $340 $0 $350 $360 $2,925

Department Security $2,930 $110 $0 $115 $120 $3,275

CR |Cash Drawer $240 $0 $0 $0 $0 $240

CR |Cash Drawer $240 $0 $0 $0 $0 $240

CR | Receipt Printer $1,055 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,055

CR | Receipt Printer $1,055 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,055

CR | Wireless Barcode Scanner $505 $0 $0 $0 $0 $505

CR | Wireless Barcode Scanner $505 $0 $0 $0 $0 $505

Daily Time Cards $790 $315 $0 $325 $335 $1,765

Human Resources $3,740 $680 $615 $700 $720 $6,455

Accounts Receivable $4,670 $850 $765 $875 $900 $8,060

Summit Code Enforcement $530 $2,400 $425 $2,470 $2,545 $8,370

Permitting $4,670 $850 $765 $875 $900 $8,060

Asset Manager $4,670 $850 $850 $875 $900 $8,145

Mobile Asset Tracking $1,395 $255 $0 $265 $275 $2,190

All Subtotals: $87,075 $19,730 $11,020 $20,320 $20,925

Grand Total: $159,070

Base Package Detail by Application (All applications and packages are inclusive of Cloud Hosting)

Fund Accounting:
Accounting Core
Purchase Orders
Remote Requisitions
ACH Credit
Positive Pay
Cash Receipting
Budget Preparation

Payroll:
Payroll Core
ACH Direct Deposit
Employee Portal

Utility Billing:
Utility Billing Core
ACH
AMR Interface
Email Bills
Summit Service Orders
BMS Pay

Package Description Total



Additional Terms

1. All prices are in effect for calendar year 2023. To guarantee these prices, individual
License Agreements must be entered into by the end of 2023. All pricing after 2023 will be
subject to change. All towns/cities not belonging to the MAS program will be subject to
standard BMS pricing.

2. Prices do not reflect sale or use taxes imposed by any state or local government, or any
unit or subdivision thereof; during the Term of the Master Agreement between BMS and
NCLM, such taxes are the responsibility of the League.

3. Utility Billing requires the use of specific bill layouts, options, and laser compatible billing
forms for either postcard or full-page bills, as provided by BMS during the implementation
process. Any additional work to edit or modify form layouts will be considered custom and
billed at our current hourly rate. For the avoidance of doubt, LICENSEE shall be
responsible for paying such costs.

4. With Automated Bank Drafting (ACH), there are setup and transaction fees charged by the
banking institution (normally, a local bank) that processes these payments. LICENSEE
shall be responsible for paying for such transaction fees.

5. This price indicates a standard file layout that BMS uses for the AMR Interface (Utility
Billing). If a new/custom layout is needed to successfully complete this interface,
additional service fees may be charged to accommodate a UB – AMR Custom Interface.
LICENSEE shall be responsible for paying for such additional service fees.

6. The League will be billed and will pay for the License Purchase Fee, Year 1 Annual Service
Fee, and Conversion Fee, as set out in the Initial Service Fee Schedule (under the
applicable License Agreement between BMS and the LICENSEE), at the beginning of
implementation. Upon completion of implementation, the League shall pay the Year 2 and
Year 3 Annual Service Fee Prepayment fees referenced in the Initial Service Fee Schedule.

7. Existing clients purchasing additional modules will be billed upon commitment as follows:
one-time fees billed in full and annual fees prorated to coincide with the annual renewal
date.

8. All fees not identified in this License Agreement or the Memorandum of Agreement
between the LICENSEE and the League shall be borne by the LICENSEE.

All hardware pricing is subject to change at invoice date.





Date: January 9, 2024 

To:  Local Government Commission 
From: Scott Attaway, City Manager

Re: FPIC Response for the City of Lowell 

To whom it may concern, 

In receipt of the email dated November 15, 2023 regarding a required FPIC response, I would 
like to provide you with the following information about asset repairs, replacements, additions to 
the water and sewer system, and potential merger of the sewer system with a regional provider. 

The 2022-2032, 10-year Water and Sewer CIP indicates several items to be addressed within the 
water and sewer system. Specifically, what is scheduled this fiscal year is the following: 

WWTP Repairs

Digester Repairs $27,000

Pump Station Repairs $10,400

Chart Recorder, Effluent 
Sampler, Hydro Ranger, 
Chlorine and Sulfur Dioxide 
Smart Valve System

$21,349.34

Capital Equipment

Hydraulic Excavator 
(purchased) 

$62,000

Mini Excavator (purchased) $74,000

Equipment Trailer
(purchased) 

$12,000

City of Lowell
101 W. 1st Street
Lowell, North Carolina 28098

Phone: 704-824-3518
www.lowellnc.com



The following charts indicate new construction projects of residential subdivisions that have 
been approved and are in various stages of construction or staff plan review that will be adding 
extensive linear footage to the water and sewer system.

WILLOW CREEK MEADOW SUBDIVISION – TO BE 
COMPLETED IN 2025

8” PUBLIC WATER 4297 LF

8” PUBLIC SEWER 4025 LF

PUMP STATION(S) 1

4” FORCE MAIN 1678 LF

LOWELL WOODS SUBDIVISION – TO BE COMPLETED 
BY 2025 

2” PUBLIC WATER 1400 LF

8” PUBLIC WATER 2603 LF

8” PUBLIC SEWER 3304 LF

RIVER HEIGHTS SUBDIVISION - COMPLETED

2” PUBLIC WATER 294 LF

6” PUBLIC WATER 740 LF 

8” PUBLIC WATER 1667 LF

8” PUBLIC SEWER 2638 LF

The City currently has the following quantity of water and sewer infrastructure as it relates to the 
above sizes.

9 PUMP STATIONS



7,851 feet of 4” FORCED 
MAINS

68,365 feet of 2” PUBLIC 
WATER

65,307 feet of 6” PUBLIC 
WATER

11,755 feet of 8” PUBLIC 
WATER

118,722 feet of 8” PUBLIC 
SEWER

These developments represent the following percentage increases to Lowell’s water and sewer 
infrastructure totals.

PERCENTAGE INCREASE TO INFRASTRUCTURE TOTALS

PUMP STATIONS +11.11% (+1 PUMP STATION)

4” FORCED MAINS +21.373% (+1,678 LF)

2” PUBLIC WATER +2.478% (+1,694 LF)

6” PUBLIC WATER +1.133% (+740 LF)

8” PUBLIC WATER +72.88% (+8,567 LF)

8” PUBLIC SEWER +8.395% (+9,967 LF)

Per the City of Lowell Utility Allocation and Extension Policy, one of our on-call engineers 
keeps records on the Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) DMR monthly reports and tracks 
capacity as it relates to new developments and report this annually to the City Council. In the 
past, this has resulted in the City’s pursuance of a pre-construction planning grant through 
NCDEQ and a construction grant through NCDEQ. The city was awarded $400,000 for a pre-
construction planning grant and that work is underway now and is scheduled to be completed by 
June 2024. Subsequently, the City of Lowell was awarded a construction grant/loan from the 
State Revolving Fund in the amount of $7.9 million for the construction of a main lift/pump 
station in order to merge Lowell’s WWTP with a regional provider (Two Rivers Utilities). We 



expect to receive bids on that work by July of 2025 and execute a construction contract by 
August 2, 2025 per the letter of Intent to Fund from NCDEQ. This work would include 
decommissioning the current WWTP.  

Additionally, Lowell has secured $8.25 million in directed funds from NCDEQ for various water 
and sewer projects. These funds will be prioritized in an ongoing Water and Sewer CIP update 
and rate study that began in January of 2024. This information will be discussed with City 
Council and tentatively adopted in April of 2024.  

If any further information is needed please contact Scott Attaway, City Manager at 
sattaway@lowellnc.com

Regards,

_______________________ 

Scott Attaway, City Manager

_________________________ 

Mayor Larry Simonds 

_________________________ 

Councilman Scott Bates

_________________________ 

 

Councilman Phil Bonham 

_________________________ 

Councilman DeWayne Chitwood 

_________________________ 

Councilman Shane Robinson 



_________________________ 

Councilman Travis Smith











































CO
N

TR
AC

TS
:

TO
TA

L 
CO

N
TR

A
CT

PA
ID

 T
O

 D
A

TE
 O

N
 

CO
N

TR
A

CT
 

A
M

O
U

N
TS

BA
LA

N
CE

 T
O

 
CO

M
PL

ET
E

TR
IF

EC
TA

 - 
D

EM
O

LI
TI

O
N

 &
 A

BA
TE

M
EN

T:
 C

O
N

TR
AC

T 
$9

49
,4

82
.0

0
1,

17
1,

90
4.

00
$ 

   
78

9,
77

7.
75

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

38
2,

12
6.

25
$ 

   
 

CH
AN

G
E 

O
RD

ER
 #

1 
&

 #
2 

- $
67

,8
00

.0
0

CH
AN

G
E 

O
RD

ER
 #

4 
- $

18
,0

72
.0

0
CH

AN
G

E 
O

RD
ER

 #
5 

- $
62

,9
00

.0
0

CH
AN

G
E 

O
RD

ER
 #

7 
- $

73
,6

50
.0

0
TR

IF
EC

TA
 - 

ER
O

SI
O

N
 &

 S
ED

IM
EN

T:
 C

O
N

TR
AC

T 
 $

 4
96

,5
77

.8
7

49
6,

57
7.

87
$ 

   
   

 
14

5,
10

2.
42

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

35
1,

47
5.

45
$ 

   
 

M
ID

-A
TL

AN
TI

C 
AS

SO
CI

AT
ES

  $
89

,6
05

.0
0 

 (W
O

RK
 W

AS
 P

ER
FO

RM
ED

 A
S 

O
N

E-
O

FF
S 

PR
IO

R 
TO

 T
H

E 
CO

N
TR

AC
T)

10
8,

26
9.

75
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
LA

BE
LL

A 
AS

SO
CI

AT
ES

   
$2

9,
97

0.
00

65
,7

29
.0

0
$ 

   
   

   
58

,1
92

.9
7

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

  
7,

53
6.

03
$ 

   
   

  
TA

SK
 O

RD
ER

 #
2 

- $
35

,8
22

.0
0

ES
P 

AS
SO

CI
AT

ES
   

$8
,4

00
.0

0
8,

40
0.

00
$ 

   
   

   
  

8,
40

0.
00

$ 
   

   
  

ES
P 

AS
SO

CI
AT

ES
 - 

TO
PO

G
RA

PH
IC

 S
U

RV
EY

  $
17

,4
00

.
17

,4
00

.0
0

$ 
   

   
   

17
,4

00
.0

0
$ 

   
   76

6,
93

7.
73

$ 
   

TO
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
ED

 W
H

EN
 C

O
M

PL
ET

E 
(A

SS
U

M
IN

G
 N

O
 O

TH
ER

 C
H

AN
G

E 
O

RD
ER

S 
O

R 
O

TH
ER

 C
O

ST
S)

$1
,8

94
,0

04
.3

1

















G
AS

TO
N

IA
 C

H
EV

RO
LE

T 
BU

IC
K 

G
M

C 
(3

18
31

4)







1
8'

 -
 1

0
 1

/8
"

34
.5

4
1

2
2"



6'
 -

 4
"

13
.3

7
25

"

16
' -

 1
1

 1
/2

"
35

.3
7

25
"



4’
-6

 3
/8

"
20

.5
4’

-6
 3

/8
"

9'
 -

 9
 1

/8
"

12
.5

1’
-3

 3
/8

"



9'
- 

11
 5

/8
"

1'
- 

10
"

18
.7

8



4'
- 

4"
18

.7
8

4’
- 

4
"













PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENT (NEW TEXT UNDERLINED AND HIGHLIGHTED). DELETED TEXTED 
SHOWN WITH STRIKETHROUGH.

§ 33.16 MEMBERSHIP AND VACANCIES; ATTENDANCE. 

The Planning Board shall consist of eight seven members. Five The
residents of the city, and shall be appointed by the City Council

appointed by the Board of Commissioners of the county. The members of the Planning Board shall serve 
for terms of three years. Vacancies occurring for reasons other than expi

replace any member c -  

 

FOR REFERENCE ONLY - LOWELL DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE – SECTION 4.2-2 

- Membership by Appointment.  members, who shall 
reside within the City Limits. Members shall be appointed by the City Council in accordance with 

-  
by adopted Rules of 
making  shall be 

 
 





BY-LAWS OF THE LOWELL COMMUNITY COMMITTEE
Adopted April 12, 2022 

Section I. Membership 
a. There shall be a Lowell Community Committee which shall consist of up to eight (8) members but not less 
than five (5) members of which all shall be voting members each appointed to three (3) year terms. Terms 
will be staggered to provide for continuity of leadership and experience while allowing for new members 
with fresh ideas. Terms shall run from January 1 in the year appointed to December 31 of the expiration year. 
All members shall be current residents of Lowell or City of Lowell business or property owners and will 
apply to the City Council. Any member seeking reappointment must submit an updated application that 
addresses the willingness to serve an additional term. The City Manager or a designee appointed by the City 
Manager, will serve as City Staff Liaison, and up to 2 members of the City Council will be appointed 
annually as non-voting members to serve as Committee Liaison to the Lowell Community Committee.

b. If a Committee member resigned during their term, a new member will be appointed by the City Council 
to finish out the term.  

c. Committee members are expected to attend meetings on a regular basis. Members should inform the chair 
of the committee as soon as possible when unable to attend an upcoming meeting, preferably at least 48 
hours notice due to quorum considerations. The advisory committee should maintain attendance records, 
including all regular and special meetings. If a committee member has missed 25% of the advisory 
committee meetings during a calendar year, the committee Chair should make a recommendation to the City 
Council on continued service of the member. The member in question will provide an explanation in writing. 
Based on this information, the City Council will make a decision on the member’s status.  

d. Committee members shall serve without monetary compensation but shall be entitled to reimbursement for 
expenses incurred in the performance of official duties relating to professional meetings, conferences, and 
workshops, with such reimbursement made to the same extent as according to the policies applicable to city 
employees.  

Section II. Meetings 
a. The Committee shall hold regular meetings each month of the year. The City Manager, the Chairperson or 
the Vice-Chair may call special or emergency meetings, provided that notice is given to all members, the 
press, and other persons in accordance with the Open Meetings Law.  

b. A quorum for the Committee shall consist of the number of members equal to a majority of the non-vacant 
seats on the Committee. Notwithstanding, at least three (3) members must be present to vote on any items.  

c. All official actions of the Lowell Community Committee shall be taken by majority vote, a quorum being 
present.  

d. Minutes shall be kept of all Committee meetings and a copy thereof shall be made available to City Hall 
within fifteen (15) days after the date of the meeting for which the minutes are furnished.  

Section III. Officers and Duties 
a. Officers of the Committee shall be a Chairperson, a Vice-Chair, and a Secretary. 

b. The Chairperson shall be selected annually by a majority vote from the Committee members. Once 
selected, a chairperson is eligible to be reappointed for up to two additional consecutive year terms.  

hours notice due to quorum considerations. The advisory committee should maintain attendance records, 
including all regular and special meetings. If a committee member has missed 25% of the advisory including all regular and special meetings. If a committee member has missed 25% of the advisory 
committee meetings during a calendar year, the committee Chair should make a recommendation to the City committee meetings during a calendar year, the committee Chair should make a recommendation to the City 
Council on continued service of the member. The member in question will provide an explanation in writing. Council on continued service of the member. The member in question will provide an explanation in writing. 
Based on this information, the City Council will make a decision on the member’s status.  



c. The Committee shall annually select a Vice-Chair, who is eligible for reappointment in the same manner 
as the Chairperson. The Vice-Chair shall perform the duties of the Chairperson if he is absent. When both the 
Chairperson and Vice-Chair are absent, those members present shall select a temporary chairman.  

d. The Secretary shall record minutes of meetings and be responsible to deliver copies of official reports and 
minutes to all members. Minutes shall be kept of all Committee meetings and a copy thereof shall be made 
available to City Hall within fifteen (15) days after the date of the meeting for which the minutes are 
furnished.  

Section IV. Powers and Duties 
The purpose of the Lowell Community Committee is to perform studies, to make recommendations on 
community improvement and recreation policies, to make recommendations on grant activities and to offer 
advice and assistance to the Parks and Recreation Department and/or City Council, and others, as necessary 
or as requested on economic development, infrastructure, parks, greenways, facilities, beautification and city 
programs and grants within the City of Lowell.  

These duties will include: 
1. To investigate and determine the needs, interests and goals of the community for community improvement 
and make recommendations to the Parks and Recreation Department and/or City Council to meet those needs 
and goals.  

2. To inform and educate the general public of the importance and need for economic development, city 
renewal programs, the importance of park and recreation programs, greenways, facilities, and services.  

3. To plan and develop attractive public areas in the City to make the City more attractive.  

4. To make recommendations on the acceptance of grants, gifts, bequests, donations and personal or real 
property for community improvement projects, parks, greenways, or recreation purposes.  

5. To assist the City in developing cooperative arrangements with other organizations and private groups, 
when it will further the objective of promoting economic development, infrastructure, beautification, park 
development and operation, park/recreation leadership, and city programs.  

6. To assist in developing/updating a comprehensive master plan to meet the present and future needs for 
programs, services, park facilities, open spaces and trails and to advise in developing priorities for each of 
these.

7. Upon request, recommend approval of Rules and Procedures pertaining to the use of public parks and 
facilities including suggested fees and charges. 

8. To actively participate in the City's volunteer opportunities and fundraising efforts for City Festivals, 
Events, Programs, and Activities.  

9. Any other items delegated to by the City Council or Parks and Recreation Department.  















To: Scott Attaway, City Manager 

From: Cheryl Ramsey, City Clerk 

Date: January 4, 2024  

Re: CDBG-NR Grant Update 

 

 In 2021 the City selected Mullen Holland and Cooper to provide legal services for the 
administration of a CDBG-NR grant relating to rehabilitation of eligible homes within City limits. The 
grant provided funding for necessary legal costs and fees related to the rehabilitation work. The scope of 
work provided in the Contract included title searches and limited title opinions, but did not specifically 
include reference to “such other legal CDBG-NR services as may be required.” 

 Ultimately title searches and opinions were completed for 11 properties, 8 of which proceeded 
to closing and received grant funding. At the request of the grant administrator, Mullen Holland & 
Cooper prepared the closing documents, facilitated the closings on behalf of the grant recipients, and 
recorded the deeds of trust. Additional legal services included the preparation and review of contracts 
with third-party vendors completing the rehabilitation work. 

 The balance for such additional legal services is $1,411. Grant funds are sufficient to cover these 
costs, but the grant administrator is requesting an amendment to the Agreement for legal services to 
reflect the additional scope of work.  

 



RESOLUTION RS 2-2024 TO AMEND CDBG-NR CONTRACT FOR LEGAL SERVICES 

WHEREAS, on or around March 9, 2021 the City of Lowell entered into an Agreement with 
Mullen Holland & Cooper to provide legal services with respect to a Community Development 
Block Grant – Neighborhood Revitalization grant received by the City to assist with 
rehabilitation of eligible homes within the City limits; and 

WHEREAS, as a result of the Grant, eight (8) homes ultimately received funding for 
improvements and rehabilitation, subject to the requirements that the homes remain owner 
occupied and other limitations for the grant funding period; and  

WHEREAS, the Contract and Agreement for legal services provided that the scope of the 
Agreement covered title searches and limited title opinions necessary for the release of grant 
funds, but did not specifically include in such scope of services “other legal CDBG-NR services as 
may be required” and  

WHEREAS, at the request of the grant administrator, Mullen Holland & Cooper has performed 
such other legal CDBG-NR services, including drafting and recording the Deeds of Trust and 
other closing documents, preparing the construction agreements for selected third-party 
vendors; and facilitating the closing process for the citizen – grant recipients; and  

WHEREAS, the balance of legal services is $1,411, and the Grant Administrator had indicated 
the availability of grant funds and willingness to pay the outstanding amount from such funds, 
with an Amendment to the scope of the Agreement as provided above.   

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Scope and Term of the Contract for Legal Services 
executed on or around March 9, 2021 between the City of Lowell and Mullen Holland & Cooper 
PA be amended to include “such other legal CDBG-NR services as may be required.”  

Adopted this ____ day of January, 2024. 

_______________________________________            _____________________________________ 

Mayor Larry Simonds              City Clerk Cheryl Ramsey 


